D.A. 2-1-94 D&7 W/disc FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 82,782

	SIC) J. W	/HITE		
	DEC	21	199	3	
CLE	RK, SI	JPRE	ME C	OUF	₹Ē
Ву	Chlef	Deput	y Cler	k	 ,

IN RE: CERTIFICATION OF CONFLICT IN MOTIONS TO WITHDRAW FILED BY PUBLIC DEFENDER OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

BRIEF ON THE MERITS BY J. MARION MOORMAN, PUBLIC DEFENDER, TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

J. MARION MOORMAN
Florida Bar No.
Public Defender
P.O. Box 9000-Drawer PD
Bartow, FL 33830
(813) 534-4157

and

JOHN BERANEK
Florida Bar No. 005419
Aurell Radey Hinkle Thomas
& Beranek
Suite 1000, Monroe-Park Tower
101 North Monroe Street
Post Office Drawer 11307
Tallahassee, FL 32301
(904) 681-7766

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is a brief on the merits by J. Marion Moorman, the Public Defender of the Tenth Judicial Circuit who serves indigent clients seeking appellate review in the Second District Court of Appeal.1 This Court accepted jurisdiction and ordered expedited briefs and oral argument by order of December 1, 1993. This is another in the line of cases concerning excessive caseloads and Public Defender appellate representation in the Second District Court of Appeal. The District Court issued en banc orders on April 22, 1993 and October 25, 1993, both of which affect Public Defenders in their capacity as a class of constitutional officers. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article V § 3(B), Florida Constitution, and this Court has previously written extensively in two previous cases on similar issues. See In Re: Order on Prosecution of Criminal Appeals by the Tenth Judicial Circuit Public Defender, 561 So. 2d 1130 (Fla. 1990) and Skitka v. State, 597 So. 2d 102 (Fla. 1991).

In March of 1993, the Public Defender moved in the Second District Court of Appeal to withdraw from 249 overdue appeals due to an excessive caseload. Motions to withdraw in an additional 133 cases were filed in April, 1993. The motions to withdraw were accompanied by formal Certifications and supporting statistical and fiscal information which was sworn to. These motions and supporting documentation were basically the same as the information

¹ The Second District has never assigned a case number to this matter. No index to the record exists. The transcript of testimony will be designated (Tr._).

supplied in <u>Skitka v. State</u>, 579 So. 2d 102 (Fla. 1991). As indicated in these motions, the records in the involved cases had been received over a 5 month period from October 1992 through February, 1993. During that time the appellate attorneys in the Public Defender's office had filed 448 briefs, representing 97,832 pages of record, averaging over 5 briefs per attorney per month and over 1,100 record pages per attorney per month. See March 12, 1993 Certification and Motion and attached Affidavit by H. Stutz.²

In response to these two motions to withdraw the Second District Court of Appeal entered its order of April 22, 1993. Order on Motions To Withdraw Filed By Tenth Circuit Public Defender, 622 So. 2d 2 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993). This order recognized the Public Defender's filing of the 382 motions all in cases where initial appellants' briefs were overdue. The order recites reference to the Public Defender's budgetary problems, a monthly increase in the backlog of cases and the Public Defender's certification that he was receiving more cases than he can adequately handle on a current basis. The order notes that the Attorney General had filed written opposition to the Public Defender's motions and described the state's objections to the effect that the Public Defender had allegedly been selective in seeking to withdraw from the more simple cases while attempting to

No one has ever suggested that the budgetary and fiscal data concerning production of briefs in these documents was inaccurate.

transfer more complex cases.³ The inference is that selective withdrawal might have been a valid objection to withdrawal.

The court quoted from its own previous order entered 4 months before the April 22 order noting its increasing concern as to its role as fact finder in deciding motions to withdraw based on excessive caseloads. The order concludes that the court would no longer resolve motions to withdraw "without an adequate factual record" because the issues raised in such motions "are too complex" and "will ultimately ... affect too many people and the fiscal affairs of too many governments". To avoid engaging in fact finding and the possibility of inconsistent results if the many motions were considered by individual circuit judges, the court chose to appoint a retired circuit judge as a Commissioner to "conduct an evidentiary hearing and the preparation of a report which is to contain findings of fact" conclusions recommendations. The Commissioner was instructed to employ the criteria set forth in In Re: Order and to further make recommendations as to the appointment of private counsel to handle the appeals pursuant to § 27.53(3) if the Commissioner found the Public Defender had a conflict based upon his excessive caseload.

Although the order did not restrict the "range of issues" the Commissioner might consider, it listed 7 specific concerns which

³ This issue was determined in favor of the Public Defender by the Commissioner. See Commissioner's Report p.4-5 holding there was no selective withdrawal. The Public Defender asserts selective withdrawal would not have been a valid objection in any event.

were of importance to the district court. These concerns were as follows:

- Whether the productivity of the appellate division of the Public Defender's office is within an acceptable range.
- Whether all of the attorneys assigned to that division are working exclusively on appellate matters.
- 3. Whether the Public Defender has taken adequate steps to assure that repetitive issues are handled efficiently.
- 4. Whether the Public Defender uses a team approach to maximize the efficiency of the briefing process.
- 5. Whether there are steps that the Public Defender, the Attorney General, and this court could collectively take to assure timely appellate review of indigent appeals.
- 6. Whether there are other steps which could be taken to allow for the timely prosecution of indigent appeals without transferring the cost for such appeals to the c.
- 7. Ignoring earlier motions to withdraw filed with this court, whether the cases selected for the present motions have been chosen for any particular reason that should be made known to the court.

The Public Defender sought review of this April 22, 1993 order before this Court in a proceeding designated as Case No. 81,734. The State of Florida, through the Attorney General, moved to dismiss the Public Defender's Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction asserting that the order was not a final order but was instead only an interim procedural step. (See State Motion of May 14, 1993.) This Court granted the state's motion and dismissed the notice seeking discretionary review by order of June 24, 1993. The Public Defender's jurisdictional brief had argued that the Second

District's April 22, 1993 order directly involved the court in the management of the Public Defender's office and that such a proceeding was improper because the Public Defender was an independent constitutional officer. The issue of improper interference with the internal operations of the Public Defender's office was not reached on the merits because of the dismissal of the notice in the June 24, 1993 order.

Thereafter the matter proceeded pursuant to the April 22, 1993 Retired Judge B.J. Driver was initially appointed by this Court as the court's Special Commissioner but due to unfortunate health problems it was necessary to replace Judge Driver. position as Commissioner was assumed by retired Circuit Judge J.C. Cheatwood pursuant to order by this Court. (See Second District Order of June 30, 1993.) Thereafter, pursuant to his authority as this Court's Commissioner, Judge Cheatwood presided over an evidentiary hearing on August 16, 17, 18 and 19, 1993. (Tr.1-997). The Public Defender presented eighteen witnesses. The Counties presented one witness, an efficiency expert in law office management (Tr.517) and the Attorney General presented one very Voluminous documentary evidence (Tr.964).regarding ethics, caseloads, workloads, appellate brief production, staffing, budgets and funding by the Legislature was admitted into (See Record and description of exhibits at Tr.991, evidence. etc.). At the beginning of the hearing the Counties declared this to be an <u>adversary</u> proceeding. (Tr.8, 10, 11). Thereafter the Public Defender preserved his objection to the entire proceeding as

an improper interference with his functions as an independent, elected constitutional officer. (Tr.27-8).

Directly in response to the Second District's April 22, 1993 order, the Public Defender then presented extensive evidence for four days as to each of the 7 "concerns" announced by the court, the Attorney General's assertion of selective withdrawals, the proper ethical responsibilities of appellate counsel in the representation of clients and the overall funding and operations of his office. Absolute full disclosure of every financial aspect of Mr. Moorman's office was made along with full evidence concerning the operation of every other appellate Public Defender office in the state. (Tr.405, 439, 475, 659, 896). Leading national experts on the national crisis in indigent representation and ethics for public defenders were called. (Tr.28-143, 311-403). The Public Defender's witnesses included the most knowledgeable and respected group of attorneys ever gathered in Florida to speak on this subject. evidence as indicated by the Commissioner's The uncontested factual findings will be detailed in a later section of this brief.

After listening to all the evidence and ruling on numerous objections by the Counties, the Commissioner took the matter under advisement. The parties submitted proposed findings of fact and by report of September 7, 1993 the Commissioner issued his findings of fact, conclusions and recommendations on all issues designated by the district court and on numerous other issues which had been raised at the hearing.

Basically, the Commissioner found that the Public Defender's appellate production was "definitely within an acceptable range" and that "the appellate Public Defenders of the Tenth Circuit function under excessive caseloads and relief should be granted". (Report p.2, 14). The Commissioner found that funding by the Florida Legislature was absolutely inadequate and concluded that pending motions to withdraw should be granted. Commissioner found that the only immediate solution was for the Counties to step in and provide funding for effective and immediate appellate representation on the short term. Although invited to do so, the Counties chose not to contest their ability to pay. Commissioner noted that withdrawal of the Public Defender was not a solution but "merely dramatizes the problem of excessive caseloads and underfunding". The Commissioner listed 6 suggestions for long term resolution of the chronic excessive caseload problem in the Second District but pointed out that the problem was really statewide.

The Commissioner's factual findings and recommendations were submitted to the court and thereafter the Public Defender, but no other party, filed a formal Response to the report. (Response 9-24-93). Since the Commissioner had ruled overwhelmingly in support of the Public Defender's position, the Response was a resounding endorsement of the report. No other party filed opposition to or even a comment on the report despite the fact that the April 22, 1993 order specifically gave "any party to the proceeding before the Commissioner" the right to file a response.

Thereafter, by en banc order of October 25, 1993, the Second District Court of Appeal merely received the report. The court's en banc order states: "The court receives the report of the Commissioner". The order does not expressly approve or adopt the report or take any step other than indicating that the motions to withdraw would be granted. No comment whatsoever is made regarding any of the factual findings, regarding any of the 7 stated "concerns" nor the Attorney General's assertion that the Public Defender had been selective in his withdrawals. Absolutely nothing is said about any of the recommendations offered by Judge Cheatwood. The en banc order says absolutely nothing about the effect of this proceeding and the factual findings upon any future motions to withdraw.

The Facts Found By The Commissioner

The report of the Commissioner was submitted to the district court and the court's April 22 order had invited "any party" including the Attorney General and the Counties to file a Response. Only the Public Defender filed a Response and that document endorsed and approved the report. Rather than detailing all of the evidence, the Public Defender simply quotes the uncontested report as his factual statement.

CASE NO. (none assigned)

IN RE: MOTION TO WITHDRAW FILED BY TENTH CIRCUIT PUBLIC DEFENDER.

COMMISSIONER'S REPORT

This matter was referred to the undersigned as a Commissioner to hear evidence and make findings of fact,

conclusions, and recommendations pursuant to the order of the Second District Court of Appeal of April 22, 1993. At issue are motions to withdraw and petitions for mandamus by the Public Defender based on asserted excessive caseloads in 382 separate appellate cases. These 382 cases were the subject of motion sot withdraw and petitions for mandamus filed in March and April 1993. Additionally motion have been filed in the months between the District Court's order of April 22, 1993, and the hearing which began on August 16, 1993. Pursuant to the District Court's order, the fourteen counties in the Second District geographic area were invited to participate along with all other Public Defenders, State Attorneys, and the Florida Attorney General. The fourteen counties formed a loose alliance and Hillsbororgh, Pinellas, and Manatee County took the lead in representing the interests of some but not all the counties. During the actual hearing, county attorneys were present from Hillsborough, Manatee, Sarasota, and Pinellas Counties.

Concerns of the Court and the Pending Motions

The Second District Court of Appeal stated the following seven concerns:

- Whether the productivity of the appellate division of the Public Defender's office is within an acceptable range.
- 2. Whether all of the attorneys assigned to that division are working exclusively on appellate matters.
- 3. Whether the Public Defender has taken adequate steps to assure that repetitive issues are handled efficiently.
- 4. Whether the Public Defender uses a team approach to maximize the efficiency of the briefing process.
- 5. Whether there are steps that the Public Defender, the Attorney General, and this court could collectively take to assure timely appellate review of indigent appeals.
- 6. Whether there are other steps which could be taken to allow for the timely prosecution of indigent appeals without transferring the cost for such appeals to the counties.

7. Ignoring earlier motions to withdraw filed with this court, whether the cases selected for the present motions have been chosen for any particular reason that should be made know to the court.

The court's order did not restrict consideration to these concerns alone. The immediate question is of course the 382 pending motions. The transcript of the full hearing has been ordered and will be filed for record purposes. The undersigned commissioner recommends that the 382 motions be granted.

Your commissioner finds that the productivity of the Public Defender's office is definitely within an acceptable range. Only one other appellate public defender's office exceeded the productivity of Mr. Moorman's

All of the attorneys assigned to the appellate division are working exclusively on such matters except for fielding questions from trial attorneys on issues of law, handling weekend and holiday first appearances on a rotational basis with all other assistant public defenders, and occasionally, jail inspections. From your commissioner's former service as a circuit judge, I find that rotational service on weekend and holiday first appearances does not interfere with normal duties. The testimony received estimated that 99.5% of appellate attorneys' time was devoted to appeals. I accept that testimony.

Your commissioner is not completely satisfied that adequate steps have been taken to assure that repetitive issues are being handled efficiently. Prior to July or August 1993, the Office of the Public Defender for the Tenth Judicial Circuit did not keep time records. Therefore, it is impossible to evaluate the relative productivity, i.e., speed and efficiency with which the various assistant appellate public defenders work. As a corollary, it could not be determined how much time each assistant devoted to an assigned case. Mr. Moorman is in the process of developing a time-keeping system.

The Public Defender does not use a team approach in the actual briefing process. Testimony was received that this would actually delay the briefing process because each team member would need to become familiar with the record. The system used requires that each brief be reviewed by another assistant public defender prior to filing, not only to check grammar and spelling but to review legal citations and make suggestions for improvement in overall content. For the most part, sharing of ideas and prior legal research between appellate attor-

neys is done informally and efficiently. There are also regularly scheduled review sessions on current case law known as <u>Florida Law Weekly Reviews</u>. At present, greater use of a more formal team approach would not enhance the efficiency of the Public Defender's brief writing. This finding is based on the consistent testimony of the numerous lawyers who testified, many of whom were not associated with the Tenth Circuit office. Most of the witnesses were simply unfamiliar with a multiple lawyer team approach to brief writing.

When an illegal sentence is the only issue in an appeal, the Public Defender's and Attorney General's offices could stipulate to a resentencing, with this court's permission, without going through the whole briefing and decision process. In order to assure the trial court's cooperation it may require an order of this court finding the sentence illegal.

No evidence was presented concerning other steps that could be taken in handling indigent appeals without transferring the cost to the counties.

The cases which are the subject of all pending motion to withdraw were selected solely because the initial briefs are in excess of sixty days overdue. The Public Defender's March 1993 motions related to forty-five percent of the cases received in October. There-after, the Public Defender has moved to withdraw from all cases received when the initial briefs are in excess of sixty days overdue. Cases sought to be withdrawn from are based upon the number of records received from the respective counties which cannot be briefed timely.

Pursuant to section 27.51(4), Florida Statutes (1991) the elected Public Defenders located in the second, seventh, nineteenth, eleventh, and fifteenth judicial circuits are assigned the additional duty of handling all indigent criminal appeals within their respective district court's jurisdiction. Thus the Tenth Circuit Public Defendant, Mr. J. Marion Moorman, responsibility for handling all indigent criminal appeals in the Second District Court of Appeal upon designation by the respective trial Public Defenders. The Second District is unique in that it has the largest population, the largest civil and criminal caseloads, the highest jury trial rate (4.24%) in criminal cases, the highest number of appeals assigned to a Public Defender, and the highest criminal appeal backlog within the office of a Public Defender.

These are problems of long-standing. See Skitka v. State, 579 So. 2d 102 (Fla. 1991); In Re: Order on Prosecution of Criminal Appeals by the Tenth Judicial Circuit Public Defender, 561 So. 2d 1130 (Fla. 1990). Although this proceeding technically concerned only the motions to withdraw and petitions for mandamus in the Second District Court of Appeal, the Commissioner was furnished with evidence concerning the four other appellate Public Defender offices. Either the elected Public Defender or the head of the appellate division from each of these offices testified to the local situation in the First, Third, Fourth, and Fifth Districts. The Commissioner was thus given a statewide view of the overall workload problem. Generally, the workload/caseload demands on the Public Defenders in Florida are extremely high.

Tenth Circuit Personnel and Organization

Mr. J. Marion Moorman, the Public Defender of the Tenth Circuit, has both trial and appellate responsibili-His office is divided into trial and appellate divisions and generally the lawyers do not cross lines between trials and appeals. Mr. Moorman is the overall supervisor of the office. His executive director is Ms. Holly Stutz. Ms. Deborah Brueckheimer is the head of the noncapital appeals division. Generally the appellate Public Defenders have substantial experience in their field and this is not an entry level position. appellate division is further divided between capital and noncapital attorneys. Again, these divisions are maintained except for individual instances where a noncapital attorney wishes to gain capital experience and may handle one such capital case. There are fifteen noncapital appellate attorneys located in very cramped quarters in Bartow and two other appellate noncapital attorneys located in Pinellas County. There are five additional attorneys doing capital appeals. There are three secretaries serving the fifteen noncapital appellate attorneys in Bartow. These attorney are directly managed by Ms. Deborah Brueckheimer who has until recently carried a full appellate caseload in addition to her management responsibilities. A production quota of seven briefs or 1300 record pages per month is enforced. This quota is enforced but not without exception.

1992 Caseload/Workload for the Second District Court of Appeal - Tenth Circuit

During calendar year 1992, there were seventeen attorneys assigned exclusively to noncapital appeals. The total number of briefs filed by these attorneys

during that period was 1,067. The average per attorney was 62.7 briefs. All Tenth Circuit attorneys who testified stated they considered the caseload excessive.

For purposes of this analysis, the word "brief" included initial briefs, answer briefs in state appeals, Anders briefs, dispositive motions, and Florida Supreme Court merit briefs. Not included in the definition of "brief" were reply briefs, supplemental briefs, extraordinary writs, Supreme Court jurisdictional briefs, oral arguments, or motions for rehearing.

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