JAN 19 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 82,782

IN RE: CERTIFICATION OF CONFLICT

IN MOTIONS TO WITHDRAW FILED BY PUBLIC DEFENDER

OF THE MENTH THE TOTAL

OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL

CIRCUIT

AMENDED ATTORNEY GENERAL'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD E. DORAN ASSISTANT DEPUTY ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0325104

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL, PL-01 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 (904) 488-8253

#

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner raises three arguments in this discretionary appeal. First, he asserts that the Second District Court of Appeals erred in ordering an evidentiary hearing to further explore the facts surrounding the Petitioner's request to withdraw from a substantial number of cases due to a conflict of interest generated by a work overload. The Attorney General's position is that this Court provided the District Court the authority to hold an evidentiary hearing in a prior decision discussing this same issue, and it was not error for the Second District to take the action that it did. The Attorney General also disagrees with the Petitioner's assertion that the Court conducted an adversarial hearing.

The second issue raised by the Petitioner is that the lower court failed to adopt the findings of the commissioner as its own. This issue was never presented to the District Court of Appeal and should merit, at best, a remand for further consideration by that Court. The Attorney General's Office has no objection to the adoption of the report.

Lastly, the Petitioner urges this Court to take steps to improve the efficiency of the criminal appellate process. The Attorney General's Office has consistently, over the years, attempted to reach solutions to this problem which would ease the burdens of the counties and, at the same time, ensure adequate

funding for the Public Defenders' Offices, the Attorney General's Office and the courts so that the rights of indigent appellants can be maintained.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

WHETHER THE PUBLIC DEFENDER, AS AN INDEPENDENT CONSTITUTIONAL OFFICER, MAY BE PROPERLY SUBJECTED TO AN ADVERSARIAL INVESTIGATORY PROCEEDING CONCERNING REQUIRED AND LEGALLY SUFFICIENT MOTION TO WITHDRAW.

At the outset, the Attorney General's Office disputes the way the issue is framed. As conceded below by both Mr. Moorman and Mr. Beranek and reinforced by the assistant attorney general, the proceedings before the commissioner were not intended to be adversarial in nature. Review of the first several pages of the transcript shows a single reference by one assistant county attorney to an "adversarial administrative proceeding." (TR 10) That reference was made in the context of an argument concerning public records law and the propriety of releasing an expert witness report prior to the hearing. The report was available to the Public Defender's Office prior to the witness's testimony, and no other adversarial posture was asserted by any of the parties during the proceeding. (TR 962-63) The Petitioner has also alluded to remarks by Judge Driver, original commissioner, during a prehearing status conference, which directed that certain state attorneys be involved in the hearing and that Public Defender Moorman be available to testify. However, it does not appear that a record of those remarks will be provided to this Court, and undersigned counsel fails to

recall any such remarks. Based upon the transcript of the hearing before Judge Cheatwood, it is apparent that Judge Cheatwood did not view the proceeding as adversarial in nature and he did not compel Public Defender Moorman to testify.

Contrary to the Petitioner's argument and suggestions contained in the April 22nd Order, the Attorney General's Office did not object to the motions to withdraw. The concerns raised were based upon evidence that complex, multi-volume cases were being "farmed out" while simple one-volume records were being maintained, and was limited to the methodology utilized in the withdrawal process. Based upon discussions between counsel during the weeks following the issue of the April 22nd Order, that concern was allayed. Accordingly, the Attorney General's

Of particular concern was the example of one Hillsborough County attorney who received cases from the Public Defenders which included one case with a 20-volume record, a second case with a 7-volume record, a third case with an 8-volume record, a fourth case with a 20-volume record, a fifth case with a 10-volume record, and a sixth case with a 20-volume record. Juxtaposed against those reassignments, the Attorney General's Office recently had received 26 initial briefs from defense counsel. Only five of those briefs were filed by the Public Defender's Office, while sixteen of those briefs were filed by attorneys handling indigent clients. Of the five briefs filed by the Public Defender's Office, four of them raised only sentencing issues, and the fifth brief merely responded to a question raised by the Second District Court of Appeal. All five cases involved records on appeal of four volumes or less. In contrast, of the sixteen cases filed by replacement counsel, it appeared that at least four of the cases involved large volumes and/or complex, multiple issues. It also appeared to the supervising attorney of the Attorney General's Office that the level of experience and understanding of criminal law of these "farm out" attorneys was not on the same level of the very experienced and able staff of the Public Defender's Office.

Office did not raise the issue as it pertained to the current batch of cases due to its understanding that a methodology for withdrawal would be installed by the Public Defender in future cases. The Public Defender himself explained what had occurred in prior releases and told the commissioner how he intended to resolve our concern. (TR 953-56)

With respect to the Public Defender's contention that the Court erred in seeking to hold an evidentiary hearing, the Court should look to that portion of Judge Grimes' opinion in <u>Skitka v. State</u>, 579 So.2d 102, 104 (Fla. 1991), wherein it was held:

acknowledge the Public Defender's arguments that the courts should not involve themselves in the management of Public Defender offices. At the same time, we do not believe the courts are obligated to permit the withdrawal automatically upon the filing certificate by the Public Defender reflecting a backlog in the prosecution of appeals.

It was therefore entirely within the discretion of the District Court of Appeal to undertake a fact-finding procedure. A similar procedure was undertaken by the First District of Appeal in <u>Day v. State</u>, 570 So.2d 1003 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), and to a lesser extent in <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 593 So.2d 617 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992).

Furthermore, as indicated by the Second District Court of Appeal in December of 1992, this Court's decision in <u>In re Order</u> on <u>Prosecution of Criminal Appeals</u> by the <u>Tenth Judicial Circuit</u>

Public Defender, 561 So.2d 1130 (Fla. 1990), allows the appellate courts the opportunity to remand these motions to the circuit courts for their consideration. See In re Order on Motions to Withdraw filed by the Tenth Circuit Public Defender, 612 So.2d 597 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992). However, as indicated in its April 22nd Order, the Second District decided that it would be appropriate to consolidate all of these matters for one detailed hearing before a commissioner rather than remand them to a variety of circuit courts where multiple rulings might lead to even more problems rather than better solutions. Order, 622 So.2d at 3-4. Unlike the decisions in Babb v. Edwards, 412 So.2d 859 (Fla. 1982), Nixon v. Siegel, 18 F.L.W. D2378 (Fla. 3d DCA, November 9, 1993), and Holloway v. Arkansas, 435 U.S. 475, 91 S.Ct. 1173, 55 L.Ed.2d 426 (1978), the concerns raised by the Court did not focus upon matters of conflict personal to each client but rather upon assertion of conflict based upon excessive Additionally, it is clear from the court's charge case loads. that it was attempting to discover ways to improve the efficiency of the entire appellate process, given its reference to possible improvements to be made between the Public Defender's Office and the Attorney General's Office regarding the handling of the At no time during this evidentiary process has the Office of the Attorney General or the Court suggested that the Court was entitled to order Mr. Moorman to run his office in a particular way or that the courts had the ability to interfere with the

professional, ethical obligations of an assistant public defender vis-a-vis his client.

It is easy to appreciate the frustration of the Public Defender. However, he has now crafted a substantially undisputed record which details a variety of workload standards, ethics standards, and practice methodologies, which are part of a judicial record. If, at any time in the future, evidentiary matters were raised, he would have ready access to these files which, upon motion for judicial notice, could be moved into evidence by a subsequent commissioner if, in fact, such a speculative concern were to arise in the future.

As indicated by the Public Defender, <u>Hatten v. State</u>, 561 So.2d 562 (Fla. 1990), makes it clear that an elected public defender is expected to handle his professional and legal duties with reasonable diligence. It does not appear from a reading of the Second District Court's April 22nd Order, the transcript of proceedings, the report of the commissioner, nor the numerous orders of the Court granting the Public Defender's motions to withdraw, that the Second District Court of Appeal intended or, in fact, acted in a manner to invade the Public Defender's role as an independent defense attorney for his clients.

To the extent that the Public Defender protests the amount of time and money spent in the District Court of Appeal, this Court can take notice that nearly the entire four-day proceeding

of witnesses, many of them offering repetitive testimony, on behalf of the Public Defender's Office. This is not to say the Public Defender did not present a well crafted and logical presentation of his concerns. Clearly, he and his attorney did just that. As noted above, a very thorough record has now been made, and it is unclear under what scenario the Second District Court of Appeal would seek evidentiary hearing regarding these issues. Speculation is not a legitimate basis upon which to decide a case. The hearing is over, the issues are resolved, and it is unclear how a ruling by this Court reversing Skitka would be of benefit to the Court of Appeals or to the parties.

#### ISSUE II

WHETHER THE FINDINGS OF FACT OF THE COMMISSIONER SHOULD HAVE BEEN ADOPTED BY THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL AND WHETHER THOSE FINDINGS SHOULD BE APPROVED BY THIS COURT.

The Attorney General's Office has no objection to the commissioner's findings of fact being accepted by the Second District Court of Appeal or by this Court. However, it does not appear that the Public Defender ever presented this argument to the Second District Court of Appeal. This Court could remand the case and direct the District Court of Appeal to make clear its position regarding the report of the commissioner. 5

This Court should be extremely cautious in accepting that portion of the Petitioner's argument contained in pages 42 and 43

#### ISSUE III

COURT TAKE THE WHETHER THIS SHOULD RECOMMENDED AVAILABLE STEPS TOWARDS EXCESSIVE REMEDYING THIS LONG-STANDING CASE LOAD PROBLEM AND (2) PROTECTING THE INDIGENT DEFENDANTS RIGHTS OF EFFECTIVELY AND TIMELY APPELLATE REVIEW IN THE SECOND DISTRICT AND ALL APPELLATE COURTS OF THIS STATE.

Much of what was recommended by Judge Cheatwood in his report to the Second District and promoted in the Public Defender's third issue was brought to the attention of this Court by the Attorney General's Office in its brief in <u>In re Order</u> case from 1990. Furthermore, the <u>In re Order</u> provides a very powerful tool for obtaining appropriate attention to this matter by providing that failure to timely process a brief can result in the granting of a writ of habeas corpus and the release of any incarcerated inmate on his own recognizance. <u>In re Order</u>, 561 So.2d at 1139.6

of his brief, wherein he seeks to utilize the findings of the commissioner regarding the Legislature's funding of the Public Defender's system as absolute gospel. The Public Defender presented testimony from a single legislator, albeit one with experience in the appropriations process for both the state attorney and the public defender offices. With all due respect for the views of the legislator in question, the Office of the Attorney General suggests that it would be unwise for this Court to rely on such limited information to make any sweeping pronouncement on how the current or future Legislatures will conduct their affairs.

The Office of the Attorney General wishes to inform this Court of yet another federal court lawsuit filed against Governor Chiles based on these funding issues. Axelsen, et al. v. Chiles, Case No. PCA 93-30273-RV, U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Florida, Pensacola Division. In that case, the plaintiff asserts that he has been deprived of his civil rights

In reviewing the findings and suggestions presented by Judge Cheatwood, the Office of the Attorney General notes its solutions that would increase funding approval of any assistant public defenders and assistant attorneys involved in the criminal appellate process. The Office has objection adoption General's no to the prospective withdrawal procedure similar to that used in the First District Court of Appeal. Such a procedure was suggested by Justice England in his concurring opinion in Escambia County v. Behr, 384 So.2d 147, 150 (Fla. 1980). As far as the adoption of any binding case load, workload standards, the Attorney General's Office suggests that such an issue be referred to the appropriate committees of The Florida Bar, including the Judicial Commission, Administration Criminal Rules Committee, Appellate Rules Committee, for their consideration. In regard to Judge Cheatwood's suggestion that a study commission be created to further look into this issue, this Office notes that a rather detailed study by Judge Campbell of the Second District Court already exists and that currently the Judicial Council of Florida is seeking to study methods of reducing overall appellate case loads in Florida. It may be worthwhile for the Judicial Council to explore these issues as part of that larger study.

and seeks an injunction directing that adequate funding be made to the state public defender system.

#### CONCLUSION

This Court should not reverse its previous decision in Skitka and prohibit the lower courts from undertaking, when advisable, non-adversarial fact-finding hearings in order to ensure that the rights of indigent appellants are adequately protected, that state and local tax dollars are being expended in the most effective means possible, and that the courts themselves are not overlooking possible changes in process or procedure which might assist in reducing the ever-increasing case loads. This Court should not take action to affirm or ratify the report of the commissioner without first affording the Second District Court of Appeal the opportunity to rule upon the Public Defender's second argument. Lastly, the General's Office is supportive of many of the recommendations made by Judge Cheatwood which may encourage the Legislature to once again review the issue of adequate funding for the criminal appellate system in Florida.